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Advance Praise for David Ray Griffin’s

9/11 Ten Years Later

“Our civilization cannot survive if we do not confront the unanswered questions about 9/11. David Ray Griffin does that with the same clarity and meticulous documentation that characterized his preceding books. Frightening as the enormity of the truth about 9/11 may be, we should also bear in mind that it is a window of opportunity for addressing a whole range of problems threatening the lives of our children and grandchildren. I am sure those who follow will recognize David Ray Griffin’s body of work as one of the most important contributions of the last decade.”

—Niels Harrit, Associate Professor Emeritus, Nano-science Center,

Department of Chemistry, University of Copenhagen

“Anyone who has actually studied Griffin's writings on 9/11 knows that the evidence against the truth of the official account is overwhelming. It is not surprising that the mainstream response has been to ridicule and ignore rather than to engage in reasoned discussion. What is disappointing is that leading liberals and responsible journalists have joined in by affirming ideas that contradict basic science and condescendingly rejecting solid research without examining it. In this book, Griffin describes the behavior of these journalists and attempts, in a remarkably charitable spirit, to understand it.”

—John B. Cobb, Jr., author of The Earthist Challenge to Economism and

(with Herman Daly) For the Common Good

“Why yet another book on 9/11? Because, as David Ray Griffin points out clearly and persuasively, 9/11 continues to be not only the greatest crime in American history, but also the most strenuously covered up, and certainly the crime with the greatest political consequences. He shows how over a decade the events of 9/11 and the reports on them have been used to attack the American democratic system. Above all, he documents the success of this attack—by the refusal of the media, the academy, and religious institutions to openly discuss these matters, and by the numbers of critics who at one extreme have made fools of themselves in echoing the Orwellian official version, and at the other extreme have been either fired or silenced after their dissent from it.”

—Peter Dale Scott, poet, former Canadian diplomat, professor at the

University of California (Berkeley), and author of American War Machine
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INTRODUCTION: 9/11 TEN YEARS LATER

The words in the title of this book—“9/11 Ten Years Later”— are often followed with an exclamation point. The exclamation point may be a way of expressing, by members of the 9/11 Truth Movement, amazement that the truth has not already been publicly revealed. The exclamation point might be used by detractors of this movement—perhaps along with an expletive—to express their feeling that it is time for these people to “get a life.” The exclamation point might reflect a position somewhat in the middle—of spouses of members hoping that no more years of their family life will be oriented around the work of trying to get the truth revealed.

In any case, for reasons discussed in this book (especially the final two chapters), there is nothing surprising about the fact that the 9/11 crime has not been revealed. Those who have gained control of a state in an ostensible democracy have many means not only for orchestrating major crimes, but also for preventing those crimes (including their crimes against democracy itself) from being publicized.

What is somewhat surprising, perhaps to the perpetrators themselves, is the fact that the 9/11 Truth Movement is still alive and, in fact, continues to grow. The first professional 9/11 organization, Scholars for 9/11 Truth, was formed in 2005, and since then a dozen professional organizations have been created. It was not until 2006 that architect Richard Gage started Architects and Engineers for 9/11 Truth with one member—himself—but now over 1,500 architects and engineers have signed its petition. Some of the organizations, such as Scientists for 9/11 Truth and Actors and Artists for 9/11 Truth, have started up only in the past two years.

This tenth anniversary marks a milestone in my own work: The present book is my tenth book about 9/11. I have been pleased to see, as indicated by sales, that my books on this topic have continued to seem helpful—including my oldest book, The New Pearl Harbor.1

Unfortunately, “ten years later” also applies to the war in Afghanistan, which began on October 7, 2001. The first chapter of this book deals with the still widely-held belief that this war was justified by 9/11. For people new to the issues, this chapter can serve as a summary of the evidence against the view that Osama bin Laden in particular, or al-Qaeda in general, was responsible for the 9/11 attacks. The tenth anniversary of the 9/11 attacks is also the tenth anniversary of the new onslaught of the (Christian and Jewish) West against the Muslim world—an onslaught that now includes not only the US-NATO attacks on Afghanistan, Iraq, and Libya, but also support for Israel’s 2006 war on Lebanon/Hezbollah and its continued oppression of Palestine, along with US provocations in Iran, Yemen, and Syria. How can anyone think that 9/11 is ancient history, which no longer matters?

For most people, “9/11” is virtually synonymous with the title of this book’s second chapter: “The Destruction of the World Trade Center.” However, rather than simply rehearsing the arguments against the official view—according to which these buildings were brought down by the airplane strikes and the resulting fires—this chapter asks: “Why Have Otherwise Rational Journalists Endorsed Miracles?”—with “miracles” understood to be events that violate well-established laws of science. Dealing with a number of left-leaning journalists, I ask why these people, who in other contexts would ridicule miracles, have endorsed them in relation to the destruction of the World Trade Center. They do not, to be sure, speak in terms of miracles. But they affirm events that require violations of fundamental scientific principles.

In the following chapter, I deal with this question in relation to two of our best and deservedly respected journalists in particular, Bill Moyers and Robert Parry. (Although Parry is not nearly as well known as Moyers, who long hosted what many considered the best hour on television every week, Parry is well respected by people who know his writings.) I ask: Why do Moyers and Parry endorse the official 9/11 story about the World Trade Center, even though one cannot endorse this story without implying a belief in miracles? I suggest that their endorsement can only be understood in terms of the psychological dynamics of the “Big Lie.”

In the fourth chapter, I focus on Building 7 of the World Trade Center, taking the name of this chapter from a New York City judge who, while getting ready to rule on a petition to allow the people of the city to vote on whether they want their own investigation of 9/11, asked in response to a statement about Building 7: “Building what?” Given the fact that this building was so big, and that the demolition of it was so obvious, I discuss “How State Crimes against Democracy Can Be Hidden in Plain Sight.” I thereby introduce the language of “state crimes against democracy,” abbreviated SCADs, which was in 2010 brought into the discussion of 9/11 by means of a symposium in a leading social science journal (this being another example of the continued expansion of the 9/11 Truth Movement). As this language indicates, 9/11 was not simply a crime against the people of the United States and the world, especially the people who were murdered on 9/11 or who had loved ones who were murdered. It was also a crime against democracy itself.

Chapter 5 turns to the chief method through which the perpetrators convinced the American people that the attacks had been orchestrated by Muslims: the apparent phone calls from the 9/11 planes, through which Americans were first told that Middle Eastern men had hijacked four airliners. This information was provided by a leading member of the Bush-Cheney administration, the Department of Justice’s solicitor general, Theodore “Ted” Olson, who told CNN and hence the world that his wife, well-known CNN correspondent Barbara Olson, informed him that her plane, American Airlines 77, had been hijacked by men armed with knives and box-cutters. In 2006, it became public knowledge (by means of the FBI’s evidence provided for the trial for Zacarias Moussaoui) that Ted Olson’s report—that his wife had talked to him twice from AA 77—was not true. This could hardly have been more important, given the fact that the alleged phone calls had provided the evidence that the planes had been hijacked, combined with the fact that the first and most important conveyor of this reported evidence was Ted Olson. And yet the American media, which have the responsibility of reporting the information the American public needs to function as a democracy,2 have never reported the FBI’s acknowledgment that the Olson calls never happened. This chapter also treats other evidence that the “phone calls from the planes” never happened.

In Chapter 6, we begin a transition to the official story about the attack on the Pentagon. This chapter is based on an essay that was written the week that Tim Russert, the well-known moderator of Meet the Press, suddenly died. Titled “Tim Russert, Dick Cheney, and 9/11,” this article pointed out that Cheney, in a discussion with Russert on his program only a few days after 9/11, had revealed something about his actions on 9/11 that contradicted what the 9/11 Commission later claimed—something that strongly suggested that Cheney had given “stand-down” orders prior to the Pentagon attack. I wrote this chapter because I thought that, given the respect and grief for Russert in the news media, there was a chance—not much of one, but more than usual—that someone in the mainstream media might pick up this story. But there was no breach of the general policy: Stories that challenge any important part of the official account of 9/11 are not to be covered. Nevertheless, I turned that essay into a chapter for the present work, both for its intrinsic interest and for its importance for the following chapter.

The title of that following chapter—“A Consensus Approach to the Pentagon”—alludes to the widespread sense, both in and outside the 9/11 Truth community, that, whereas there is a lot of consensus within this community about the destruction of the World Trade Center, there is no such consensus about the attack on the Pentagon. In this chapter, I argue that, although there is indeed much disagreement on the issue that has received the most debate—was the Pentagon hit by a Boeing 757?—this is a relatively trivial point in comparison with an issue about the Pentagon attack on which the 9/11 Truth Movement has reached consensus.

The title of Chapter 8 employs an expression that may seem strange to most readers: “Nationalist Faith.” We normally think of the primary form of faith in the United States as Christian. But I suggest, in agreement with theologian John Cobb, that the primary form of faith in America is the American version of nationalism, which could be called “Americanism.” To illustrate how this nationalist faith can trump Christian faith, I explain how the one book I wrote on 9/11 from an explicitly Christian point of view, Christian Faith and the Truth behind 9/11,3 led to the removal of Westminster Press’s president and vice-president, who had given the go-ahead for the publication of my book. As I explain, people in the church who complained about my book, including members of the board who censured my book, did not raise any theological objections. What was objectionable was that I had provided evidence that the 9/11 attacks, rather than having been carried out by foreign Muslims, were orchestrated by members of the US government.

The final chapter expounds the idea expressed in the book’s subtitle: “When State 
Crimes against Democracy Succeed.” Having introduced the notion of SCADs in the fourth chapter, I deal in 
this final chapter with the dangers to our country and, indeed, to the whole world, when American 
SCADs succeed and are not quickly reversed. When President Kennedy and then Bobby Kennedy were assassinated, wise 
commentators at the time warned that if the truth about these murders were not revealed, then more, perhaps 
greater, state-sponsored crimes would be committed. That prediction came true on 9/11.

Ten years have elapsed since 9/11, and this greatest of all SCADs has not been reversed. So anyone who cares about the future of this country, and of the world as a whole, should be working to expose the state crime against democracy that occurred on 9/11.







1. DID 9/11 JUSTIFY THE WAR IN

AFGHANISTAN?

There are many questions to ask about the war in Afghanistan. One that has been widely asked is whether it would turn out to be President Obama’s Vietnam. This question has implied several others, such as: Is this war winnable, or has it become a quagmire? And this question is partly motivated by the widespread agreement that the Afghan government under Hamid Karzai is at least as corrupt and incompetent as the government we tried to prop up in South Vietnam for 20 years. Also, just as the American people turned increasingly against the war in Vietnam, they have now turned increasingly against the war in Afghanistan. Commentators have increasingly been referring to it as a “purposeless war.”

Although there have been many similarities between these two wars, there has also been a big difference: This time, there has been no draft. For this reason, as anti-war writers often comment, no strong anti-war movement has developed. If there were a draft, so that college students and their friends back home were being sent to Afghanistan, there would have been huge demonstrations against this war all across this country. If the sons and daughters of wealthy and middle class parents had been coming home in boxes, or with permanent injuries, or with post-traumatic stress disorder, which might lead them to commit suicide—this war would have been stopped long ago. People have often asked, did we learn any of the “lessons of Vietnam”? Our government learned one: If you’re going to have an unpopular war, don’t have a draft.

However, even though there has not been a draft, the American people have said that the war should be brought to an end. An ABC/Washington Post Poll in June of 2011 showed that only 43 percent of the American people consider the war “worth fighting,” and this figure reflected a bump from the announcement of the killing of Osama bin Laden: In March, only 31 percent marked “worth fighting.” A CNN poll showed that 74 percent of the American people wanted US troops to come home partly or totally.1


There are many other questions that have been asked about the war in Afghanistan, but in this essay, I focus on only one: Did the 9/11 attacks justify the war in Afghanistan?

This question has thus far been considered off-limits, not to be raised in polite company, and certainly not in the mainstream media. It has been permissible, to be sure, to ask whether the war during the past several years has been justified by those attacks so many years ago. But one has not been allowed to ask whether the original invasion was justified by the 9/11 attacks.

Various commentators, to be sure, have raised some pretty fundamental questions about the effectiveness and affordability of the “counterinsurgency strategy” and even whether American fighting forces should remain in Afghanistan at all. But I will ask an even more fundamental question: Whether this war was ever really justified by the publicly given reason: the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001.

This question has two parts: First, did these attacks provide a legal justification for the invasion of Afghanistan? Second, if not, did they at least provide a moral justification? I will begin with the question of legal justification.

I IS THE WAR IN AFGHANISTAN

LEGALLY JUSTIFIED?

Since the founding of the United Nations in 1945, international law with regard to war has been defined by the UN charter. It is widely agreed by international lawyers that, measured by this standard, the US-led war in Afghanistan has been illegal from the outset.

Marjorie Cohn, a well-known professor of international law, wrote in November 2001:

[T]he bombings of Afghanistan by the United States and the United Kingdom are illegal. This bombardment violates both international law and United States law.2

In 2008, Cohn repeated this argument in an article entitled “Afghanistan: The Other Illegal War.” The point of the title was that, although by then it had become widely accepted that the war in Iraq was illegal, the war in Afghanistan was equally illegal.3

According to international law as codified in the UN Charter, she pointed out, disputes are to be brought to the UN Security Council, which alone may legally authorize the use of force. Without this authorization, any military activity against another country is illegal.

However, there are two exceptions to this principle: One of these is that, if your nation has been subjected to an armed attack by another nation, you may respond militarily in self-defense. This condition was not fulfilled by the 9/11 attacks, however, because they were not carried out by another nation. Afghanistan did not attack the United States. Indeed, the 19 men charged with the crime were not Afghans; most of them were from Saudi Arabia.

The other exception occurs when a nation has certain knowledge that an armed attack by another nation is imminent—too imminent for the matter to be brought to the Security Council. The need for self-defense must be “instant, overwhelming, leaving no choice of means, and no moment for deliberation.” Although the US government claimed that its military operations in Afghanistan were justified by the need to prevent a second attack, this need, even if real, was clearly not urgent, as shown by the fact that the United States waited almost a month to launch its attack on Afghanistan.

US political leaders have claimed, to be sure, that the UN did authorize the US attack on Afghanistan. This claim, originally made by the Bush-Cheney administration, was repeated by President Obama in his West Point speech of December 1, 2009, in which he said that the “United Nations Security Council endorsed the use of all necessary steps to respond to the 9/11 attacks,” so that US troops went to Afghanistan “[u]nder the banner of … international legitimacy.”4

However, the language of “all necessary steps” is from UN Security Council Resolution 1368, in which the Council, taking note of its “responsibilities under the Charter,” expressed its own readiness “to take all necessary steps to respond to the terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001.”5

Of course, the UN Security Council might have determined that one of these necessary steps was to authorize an attack on Afghanistan by the United States. But it did not. Resolution 1373, which is the only other Security Council resolution about this matter, laid out various responses, but these included matters such as freezing assets, criminalizing the support of terrorists, exchanging police information about terrorists, and capturing and prosecuting terrorists. The use of military force was not mentioned.6


The US war in Afghanistan was not authorized by the UN Security Council in 2001 or at any time since, so this war began as an illegal war and has remained an illegal war. Our government’s claim to the contrary is false.

This war is illegal, moreover, not only under international law, but also under US law. The UN Charter is a treaty, which was ratified by the United States, and, according to Article VI of the US Constitution, any treaty ratified by the United States is part of “supreme law of the land.”7 The war in Afghanistan, therefore, has been in violation of US law as well as international law. It could not be more illegal.

II IS THE WAR IN AFGHANISTAN

MORALLY JUSTIFIED?

The American public for the most part probably does not realize that this war is illegal, because this is not something our political leaders have been anxious to point out, and our press has for the most part also ignored this issue. So most people simply do not know.

If they were informed, however, many Americans would be inclined to argue that, even if technically illegal, the US military effort in Afghanistan has been morally justified by the attacks of 9/11. For a summary statement of this argument, we can turn again to the West Point speech of President Obama, who has taken over the Bush-Cheney account of 9/11. Seeking to provide an answer to the question of “why America and our allies were compelled to fight a war in Afghanistan in the first place,” Obama said:

We did not ask for this fight. On September 11, 2001, nineteen men hijacked four airplanes and used them to murder nearly 3,000 people. They struck at our military and economic nerve centers. They took the lives of innocent men, women and children without regard to their faith or race or station… . As we know, these men belonged to al Qaeda—a group of extremists who have distorted and defiled Islam, one of the world’s great religions, to justify the slaughter of innocents… . [A]fter the Taliban refused to turn over Osama bin Laden—we sent our troops into Afghanistan.

This standard account can be summarized in terms of three points:



	 The attacks were carried out by 19 Muslim members of al-Qaeda.

	The attacks had been authorized by the founder of al-Qaeda, Osama bin Laden, who was in Afghanistan.


	The US invasion of Afghanistan was necessary because the Taliban, which was in control of Afghanistan, refused to turn bin Laden over to US authorities.





On the basis of these three points, our political leaders concluded that the United States had the moral right, arising from the universal right of self-defense, to attempt to capture or kill bin Laden and his al-Qaeda network to prevent them from launching another attack on our country.

The only problem with this argument is that all three points are false. I will show this by looking at these three points in reverse order, beginning with the claim that we invaded Afghanistan because the Taliban refused to hand over bin Laden.

1. FIRST CLAIM: AFGHANISTAN ATTACKED FOR TALIBAN’S

REFUSAL TO TURN OVER BIN LADEN

The claim that the Taliban refused to turn over bin Laden was repeatedly made by political leaders and our mainstream media. For example, Robert Reid, writing for the Associated Press, said in 2009 that the war “was launched by the Bush administration after the Taliban government refused to hand over Osama bin Laden for his role in the Sept. 11, 2001 terror attacks in the United States.”8 Reports from the time, however, show the truth to be very different.

Who Refused Whom?

Ten days after the 9/11 attacks, CNN reported:

The Taliban … refus[ed] to hand over bin Laden without proof or evidence that he was involved in last week’s attacks on the United States… . The Taliban ambassador to Pakistan … said Friday that deporting him without proof would amount to an “insult to Islam.”

CNN also made clear that the Taliban’s demand for proof was not made without reason, saying:

Bin Laden himself has already denied he had anything to do with the attacks, and Taliban officials repeatedly said he could not have been involved in the attacks.

Bush, however, “said the demands were not open to negotiation or discussion.”9


With this refusal to provide any evidence of bin Laden’s responsibility, the Bush administration made it impossible for the Taliban to turn him over. As Afghan experts quoted by the Washington Post pointed out, the Taliban, in order to turn over a fellow Muslim to an “infidel” Western nation, needed a “face-saving formula.” Milton Bearden, who had been the CIA station chief in Afghanistan in the 1980s, put it this way: While the United States was demanding, “Give up bin Laden,” the Taliban were saying, “Do something to help us give him up.”10 But the Bush administration refused.

After the bombing began in October, moreover, the Taliban tried again, offering to turn bin Laden over to a third country if the United States would stop the bombing and provide evidence of his responsibility for the 9/11 attacks. But Bush replied: “There’s no need to discuss innocence or guilt. We know he’s guilty.” An article in London’s Guardian, which reported this development, was entitled: “Bush Rejects Taliban Offer to Hand Bin Laden Over.”11 So it was the Bush administration, not the Taliban, that was responsible for the fact that bin Laden was not turned over.

In August of 2009, President Obama, who had criticized the US invasion of Iraq as a war of choice, said of the US involvement in Afghanistan: “This is not a war of choice. This is a war of necessity.”12 It appears, however, that it was a war of choice, every bit as much as the war in Iraq.

What Was the Motive for the Invasion?

This conclusion is reinforced by reports indicating that the United States had made the decision to invade Afghanistan two months before the 9/11 attacks. The background to this decision was the fact that the United States had been supporting a pipeline project proposed by UNOCAL that would transport oil and gas from the Caspian Sea region through Afghanistan and Pakistan to the Indian Ocean.13 This project had been on hold through the 1990s because of the civil war that had been going on in Afghanistan since the withdrawal of the Soviet Union in 1989.

In the mid-1990s, the US government had supported the Taliban with the hope that it would be able to unify the country through its military strength and provide a stable government. By the late 1990s, however, the Clinton administration had given up on the Taliban.14

When the Bush administration came to power, it decided to give the Taliban one last chance. During a four-day meeting in Berlin in July 2001, representatives of the Bush administration insisted that the Taliban must create a government of “national unity” by sharing power with factions friendly to the United States. The US representatives reportedly said to the Taliban: “Either you accept our offer of a carpet of gold, or we bury you under a carpet of bombs.”15

After the Taliban refused this offer, the Americans said: “[M]ilitary action against Afghanistan would go ahead … before the snows started falling in Afghanistan, by the middle of October at the latest.”16 Indeed, given the fact that the attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon occurred on September 11, the US military was able to mobilize to begin its attack on Afghanistan by October 7.

It appears, therefore, that the United States invaded Afghanistan for reasons far different from the official rationale, according to which we were there to capture or kill Osama bin Laden.

2. SECOND US CLAIM: GOOD EVIDENCE EXISTS OF BIN LADEN’S

RESPONSIBILITY FOR 9/11 ATTACKS

I turn now to the second point: the claim that Osama bin Laden had authorized the attacks. Even if the Bush administration refused to give the Taliban evidence for this claim, it surely, most Americans probably assume, had such evidence and provided it to those who needed it. Again, however, the reports from the time indicate otherwise.

The Bush Administration

Two weeks after 9/11, Secretary of State Colin Powell said that he expected “in the near future … to put out … a document that will describe quite clearly the evidence that we have linking [bin Laden] to this attack.”17 But at a joint press conference with President Bush the next morning, Powell withdrew this pledge, saying that “most of [the evidence] is classified.”18

Is this not remarkable? The Bush administration asked the American people to support an attack on Afghanistan on the basis of its claim that Osama bin Laden, who was in Afghanistan at the time, had authorized those attacks. But it said that the evidence for this claim could not be shared with us.

Seymour Hersh, citing officials from both the CIA and the Department of Justice, said that the real reason why Powell withdrew the pledge to share the evidence was a “lack of solid information.”19


The British Government

The following week, British Prime Minister Tony Blair tried to help out, issuing a document purportedly showing that “Osama Bin Laden and al-Qaeda, the terrorist network which he heads, planned and carried out the atrocities on 11 September 2001.” Blair’s report, however, began by saying: “This document does not purport to provide a prosecutable case against Osama Bin Laden in a court of law.”20 So, the case was good enough to go to war, but not good enough to take to court. The next day, the BBC emphasized this weakness, saying: “There is no direct evidence in the public domain linking Osama Bin Laden to the 11 September attacks.”21

The FBI

What about our own FBI? Surely, people would assume, it has an ironclad case against bin Laden. But the FBI’s “Most Wanted Terrorist” webpage on “Usama Bin Laden” never listed 9/11 as one of the terrorist acts for which he was wanted. This webpage did mention Nairobi (Kenya) and Dar es Salaam (Tanzania) as terrorist acts for which he was wanted. But it made no mention of 9/11.22 When asked in 2006 why not, Rex Tomb, the FBI’s chief of investigative publicity replied: “The reason why 9/11 is not mentioned on Usama Bin Laden’s Most Wanted page is because the FBI has no hard evidence connecting Bin Laden to 9/11.”23

After this story started flying around the Internet and was even covered by a TV station in Louisiana,24 Dan Eggen of the Washington Post tried to downplay its significance in an article entitled “Bin Laden, Most Wanted For Embassy Bombings?”25 Complaining about “conspiracy theorists” who claimed that “the lack of a Sept. 11 reference [on the FBI’s “Most Wanted” webpage for bin Laden] suggests that the connection to al-Qaeda is uncertain,” Eggen quoted the explanation offered by a former US attorney, who said that the FBI could not appropriately “put up a wanted picture where no formal charges had been filed.”

But that explanation, while true, simply pushes the issue back a step to this question: Why have such charges not been filed? Rex Tomb’s fuller statement, which Eggen failed to mention, had answered this question the previous June, saying:

The FBI gathers evidence. Once evidence is gathered, it is turned over to the Department of Justice. The Department of Justice then decides whether it has enough evidence to present to a federal grand jury. In the case of the 1998 United States Embassies being bombed, Bin Laden has been formally indicted and charged by a grand jury. He has not been formally indicted and charged in connection with 9/11 because the FBI has no hard evidence connecting Bin Laden to 9/11.26

Most Americans, however, were never told by the press that the Department of Justice has never formally indicted Osama bin Laden for the 9/11 attacks, because its FBI never provided it with any hard evidence.

The 9/11 Commission

What about the 9/11 Commission? Its entire report is based on the unquestioned premise that bin Laden was behind the attacks. When we look closely, however, we see that the Commission’s own co-chairs, Thomas Kean and Lee Hamilton, later admitted that this assumption was not supported by any reliable evidence. Insofar as the 9/11 Commission’s report did give evidence of bin Ladin’s responsibility for the 9/11 attacks, it consisted of testimony that had reportedly been elicited by the CIA from al-Qaeda operatives. The most important of these operatives was Khalid Sheikh Mohammed—generally known as simply “KSM”—who has been called the “mastermind” of the 9/11 attacks.

If you read the 9/11 Commission’s account of how bin Laden planned the attacks, and then check the notes, you will find that almost every note says that the information came from KSM.27

But Kean and Hamilton, in a 2006 book giving “the inside story of the 9/11 Commission,” said that we cannot rely on this information. They had no success, they reported, in “obtaining access to star witnesses in custody … , most notably Khalid Sheikh Mohammed.”28 Besides not being allowed by the CIA to interview KSM, they were not permitted to observe his interrogation through one-way glass. They were not even allowed to talk to the interrogators.29 Therefore, Kean and Hamilton complained:

We … had no way of evaluating the credibility of detainee information. How could we tell if someone such as Khalid Sheikh Mohammed … was telling us the truth?30

Moreover, it is now known that KSM and the other al-Qaeda leaders had been tortured, and it is widely acknowledged that statements elicited by torture lack credibility. “At least four of the operatives whose interrogation figured in the 9/11 Commission Report,” an NBC report pointed out, “have claimed that they told interrogators critical information as a way to stop being ‘tortured.’”31

Accordingly, neither the Bush administration, the British government, the FBI, nor the 9/11 Commission ever provided reliable evidence of bin Laden’s responsibility for the attacks.

The Claim that bin Laden Confessed to the 9/11 Attacks

Granted that “hard evidence” of bin Laden’s responsibility for 9/11 has never been provided, it is often claimed that evidence is no longer needed, because bin Laden admitted his responsibility. This claim has been made primarily about a videotape that was released on December 13, 2001, by the Pentagon, claiming that the videotape, dated November 9, 2001, had been found in Jalalabad. But doubts have been raised from the beginning. BBC News said in a report entitled “Could the Bin Laden Video Be a Fake?”

Washington calls it the “smoking gun” that puts Bin Laden’s guilt beyond doubt, but many in the Arab world believe the home video of the al-Qaeda chief is a fake.32

Reporting “growing doubt in the Muslim world about the authenticity of the film,” Guardian writer Steven Morris pointed out that “the White House had provided no details about how the Pentagon came to be in possession of the tape. Some opponents of the war theorise that the Bin Laden in the film was a look-alike.”33 The BBC and Guardian writers also stated that, without more details, it would be impossible to determine whether the video was authentic.34

Bin Laden’s Statements about 9/11: Another reason to consider the “confession video” a fake is that, in the days leading up to November 9, bin Laden consistently denied that he planned the 9/11 attacks. He made this statement on September 12, in which bin Laden said that, although he “thanked Almighty Allah and bowed before him when he heard this news [about the attacks],” he had “had no information or knowledge about the attack.”35 He continued to make essentially the same point on September 16,36 September 17,37 September 28,38 and October 7, 2001.39

Bin Laden’s Appearance: To believe that bin Laden confessed to orchestrating the attacks of 9/11, moreover, one would also need to believe that there was a sudden change not only in bin Laden’s testimony but also in his appearance. In videos made on October 7 and November 3, there is a considerable amount of white in bin Laden’s beard, but in the latter, his health appears to have deteriorated somewhat.40 We would expect the bin Laden of the video dated November 9 (the so-called “confession video”) to have looked about the same, or even somewhat worse, than the bin Laden in the November 3 video. However, the bin Laden of this video seems darker than previous videos,41 and seems to be heavier, with fuller cheeks than the bin Laden of a video known to have been made after November 16. Also, the bin Laden of the “confession video” also seemed to have a differently shaped nose42 and shorter, heavier hands.43

Things the Real bin Laden Would Not Have Said: Still another problem is that the bin Laden of this “confession video” made some statements that the real bin Laden, if he were confessing to having planned the attacks, would not have made. For example, “bin Laden,” discussing the collapse of the towers, said:

[D]ue to my experience in this field, I was thinking that the fire from the gas in the plane would melt the iron structure of the building and collapse the area where the plane hit and all the floors above it only. This is all that we had hoped for.44

Given his “experience in this field,” as a contractor, the real bin Laden would have known that the buildings were framed with steel, not with iron, and he also would have known that none of the buildings’ steel (or iron) would have been melted by the “fire from the gas in the plane.” He would have known that a building fire fed by jet-fuel could not have gotten above 1,800 degrees Fahrenheit, whereas iron and steel do not begin to melt until they are heated to at least 2,700 degrees. Osama bin Laden, therefore, would not have expected any iron or steel to melt.

The Opinion of Professor Bruce Lawrence: In February 2007, Bruce Lawrence, a Duke University history professor who is widely considered the country’s leading academic bin Laden expert,45 was asked what he thought about this so-called confession video. He said: “It’s bogus.” Adding that he had friends in the US Department of Homeland Security assigned to work “on the 24/7 bin Laden clock,” he said that “they also know it’s bogus.”46


“The Killing of Osama bin Laden”

On May 1, 2011, President Barack Obama announced that a team Navy SEALs had killed Osama bin Laden in Pakistan that day. Although the corporate press simply reported the president’s statement as if there were no serious questions to be raised about it, the discussion in the alternative press showed otherwise.

One kind of question raised the morality and even legality of the reported raid, in which a defenseless bin Laden was assassinated, hence murdered.47 Indeed, later reports indicated, the goal “was never to capture bin Laden,” but simply to kill him.48 Noam Chomsky, for one, argued that bin Laden, who after all was merely a suspect, deserved a trial.49

Another kind of question dealt with the reported treatment of the body: No Muslim was invited to perform the last rights, and the body was buried at sea50—which is definitely not proper.

Another kind of question was whether the person killed by the SEALs was actually Osama bin Laden.51 After all, the body, reportedly, was quickly buried at sea; no Muslim friends or acquaintances were asked to confirm the man’s identity; we were told that one of his wives was there, but there has not been (as of this writing) an interview with her with a translator. Also there was the question of how Osama bin Laden, who was close to death in 2001, according to many reports (including one by CNN’s Sanjay Gupta),52 could have survived another ten years. Many authorities had even stated that bin Laden died—either definitely or probably—in 2001.53

The most important question, however, was one that was not raised in the mainstream press and was only occasionally raised in the alternative media. Obama famously said, in announcing the killing of Osama bin Laden, that “justice was done.” This claim presupposed that people had been given good evidence that bin Laden was responsible for the 9/11 attacks. As we have seen, however, no evidence of bin Laden’s responsibility had ever been provided.54 So Chomsky was correct: bin Laden was merely a suspect.
 
This point was well stated in 2009 by a German federal judge, Dieter Deiseroth, who said:

To date, more than 8 years after 9/11, no independent authority, no independent court, has reviewed available evidence, alleged or actual, and established verifiable procedures, satisfying constitutional requirements, as to who was responsible for the attacks of 9/11. What in no case is to be said is that the argumentation is difficult - that it is for us too arduous to identify the perpetrators and possible masterminds and take them into custody: therefore, we avoid these constitutional difficulties and start a war to kill possible suspects by military force directly. It is not acceptable in a constitutional state to omit the necessary steps in identifying suspects and bringing them to trial before an independent court, but instead proclaim a war, bomb a foreign country in which possible suspects or perpetrators may reside, and occupy it militarily.55

So if Osama bin Laden was indeed killed on May 1, 2011, the claim that “justice was done” is emphatically not true.

3. THE THIRD US CLAIM: THERE IS GOOD EVIDENCE OF

AL-QAEDA’S RESPONSIBILITY

I turn now to the third claim—that, even if there is no proof that Osama bin Laden authorized the attacks, we have abundant evidence that the attacks were carried out by Muslims belonging to his al-Qaeda organization. The main basis for this claim has been evidence that Muslim hijackers were on the airliners. The remainder of this chapter shows that no good evidence exists for this claim. There is even evidence against this claim, suggesting that 9/11 was instead a false-flag attack—an attack that people within our own government orchestrated while planting evidence to implicate Muslims. I will look at various types of evidence that were used to convince Americans that the 9/11 attacks were orchestrated by al-Qaeda Muslims.

Devout Muslims?

The 9/11 Commission portrayed the 19 men who (allegedly) took over the planes as devout Muslims, ready to meet their Maker—a “cadre of trained operatives willing to die.”56

However, the San Francisco Chronicle reported that Atta and other hijackers had made “at least six trips” to Las Vegas, where they had “engaged in some decidedly un-Islamic sampling of prohibited pleasures.” The Chronicle quoted the head of the Islamic Foundation of Nevada as saying: “True Muslims don’t drink, don’t gamble, don’t go to strip clubs.”57


Mohamed Atta: The contradiction is especially strong with regard to Mohamed Atta. On the one hand, Professor Dittmar Machule, who was Atta’s thesis supervisor at a technical university in Hamburg in the 1990s, said that Atta was “very religious,” prayed regularly, and never touched alcohol.58 (Professor Machule, incidentally, says that he knew this student only as Mohamed al-Emir—although his full name was the same as his father’s: Mohamed al-Emir Atta.) The 9/11 Commission says that Atta was very religious, even “fanatically so.”59 (The Commission wrote that when Atta arrived in Germany, he was not fanatically religious at first, but “[t]his would change.”) Although Machule did not describe Atta as fanatically religious, he and the 9/11 Commission agreed that Atta was very religious. According to the American press, on the other hand, Mohamed Atta drank heavily. After downing five glasses of vodka, wrote Newsweek, Atta shouted an Arabic word that “roughly translates as ‘F—k God.’”60 Investigative reporter Daniel Hopsicker, who wrote a book about Atta, stated that Atta regularly went to strip clubs, hired prostitutes, drank heavily, and took cocaine. Atta even lived with a stripper for several months and then, after she kicked him out, came back and disemboweled her cat and dismembered its kittens.61

Could this be the same individual as Professor Machule’s student Mohamed al-Emir, who would not even shake hands with a woman upon being introduced, and who never touched alcohol? “I would put my hand in the fire,” said the professor, “that this Mohamed El-Amir I know will never taste or touch alcohol.” Could the Atta described by Hopsicker and the American press be the young man whom this professor described as not a “bodyguard type” but “more a girl looking type”?62 Could the man who disemboweled a cat and dismembered its kittens be the young man known to his father as a “gentle and tender boy,” who was nicknamed “nightingale”?63

We are clearly talking about two different men. This is confirmed by the differences in their appearance. The American Atta was often described as having a hard, cruel face, and the standard FBI photo of him bears this out. The face of the Hamburg student was quite different, as photos available on the Internet show.64 Also, his professor described him as “very small,” being “one meter sixty-two” in height65—which means slightly under 5’4”—whereas the American Atta has been described as 5’8” and even 5’10” tall.66


One final reason to believe that these different descriptions apply to different men: The father of Mohamed al-Emir Atta reported that on September 12, before either of them had learned of the attacks, his son called him and they “spoke for two minutes about this and that.”67

Other Members of al-Qaeda: There are also problems in relation to many of the other alleged hijackers. For example, the BBC reported that Waleed al-Shehri, who supposedly died along with Atta on American Flight 11, spoke to journalists and American authorities in Casablanca the following week.68 Moreover, there were clearly two men going by the name Ziad Jarrah—the name of the alleged hijacker pilot of United Flight 93.69 Accordingly, besides the fact the men labeled “the hijackers” were not devout Muslims, they may not have even been Muslims of any type.

And if that were not bad enough for the official story, evidence that purportedly shows that they hijacked the planes does not even prove that they were on the planes. All the evidence for this claim falls apart upon examination. I will illustrate this point with a few examples.70

Incriminating Evidence in Atta’s Luggage?

Proof that al-Qaeda hijacked the planes was reportedly found in luggage belonging to Mohamed Atta that was discovered inside the Boston airport after the attacks. Why was the luggage there? Because, we were told, although Atta was already in Boston on September 10, he and another al-Qaeda operative, Abdul al-Omari, rented a blue Nissan and drove up to Portland, Maine. After staying overnight, they caught a commuter flight back to Boston early the next morning in order to transfer to American Airlines Flight 11. Although these men got to Boston in time to make the transfer, Atta’s luggage did not make it.

This luggage, according to an FBI affidavit, contained much incriminating material, including a handheld flight computer, flight simulator manuals, two videotapes about Boeing aircraft, a slide-rule flight calculator, a copy of the Koran, and Atta’s last will and testament.71 This material was widely taken as proof that al-Qaeda was behind the attacks. When examined closely, however, the Attato-Portland story loses all credibility.

One problem is the very idea that Atta would have included these items in baggage that was to be transferred to Flight 11. What good would a flight computer and other flying aids do inside a suitcase in the plane’s luggage compartment? Why would Atta have planned to take his will on a plane he planned to crash into the World Trade Center?

Another problem with the Atta-to-Portland story was the question of why he would have taken this trip. Atta was supposedly the ringleader of the hijackers as well as the intended pilot for Flight 11. If the commuter flight had been late, Atta would have had to call off the whole operation, which he had reportedly been planning for two years. Why in the world would Atta have taken the overnight trip to Portland? Both the FBI and the 9/11 Commission admitted that they had no answer to this question.72

We can see why those unanswerable questions exist by examining news stories that appeared immediately after the 9/11 attacks. According to these stories, the incriminating materials were found in a rented white Mitsubishi, which Atta had left in the Boston airport parking lot (not in Atta’s luggage inside the airport). As reported in these news stories, two al-Qaeda members indeed drove the rented blue Nissan to Portland, stayed overnight, and then took the commuter flight back to Boston the next morning, in time to board Flight 11. But they—as material left in the car reportedly showed—were named Adnan and Ameer Bukhari (not Mohamed Atta and Abdul al-Omari).73

This story fell apart on the afternoon of September 13, when it was discovered that the Bukharis could not have been on Flight 11, because neither of them had died on 9/11: Ameer Bukhari had died the year before, whereas Adnan Bukhari was still alive.74

By the next day—September 14—the Associated Press started saying that Atta and a companion drove a blue Nissan to Portland, stayed overnight, and then took the commuter flight back to Boston. By September 16, a Washington Post story added the detail that the incriminating material had been found in Atta’s luggage inside the Boston airport (rather than in a white Mitsubishi).75 Within three days, in other words, the story had been transformed into what has remained the official story to this day.

Given the way in which the Atta-to-Portland story emerged, we cannot take seriously the idea that Atta’s luggage provided reliable evidence about al-Qaeda’s responsibility for 9/11.

Al-Qaeda Operatives on Airport Security Videos?

Frames from videos taken by airport security cameras supposedly showed al-Qaeda operatives checking into the airports at Boston and Washington, DC. But this photographic evidence was deceptive.


Shortly after the attacks, photos showing Mohamed Atta and Abdul al-Omari at an airport “were flashed round the world.”76 It was widely assumed that these photos were from the airport at Boston, whereas they were really from the airport in Portland, Maine. No photos showing Atta or any of the other alleged hijackers at Boston’s Logan Airport were ever produced. We at best have photographic evidence that Atta and al-Omari were at the Portland Jetport. Moreover, a photo showing Atta and al-Omari passing through the security checkpoint is marked both 05:45 and 05:5377—which means that the photo could not be genuine.

On the day in July 2004 that The 9/11 Commission Report was published, the official story was said to have been corroborated by an airport video, about which the Associated Press wrote:
 
Hijacker Khalid al-Mihdhar … passes through the security checkpoint at Dulles International Airport in Chantilly, Va., Sept. 11 2001, just hours before American Airlines Flight 77 crashed into the Pentagon in this image from a surveillance video.78

However, this video contains no evidence that it was taken by a security camera at Dulles on September 11. As Rowland Morgan and Ian Henshall pointed out:

[A] normal security video has time and date burned into the integral video image by proprietary equipment according to an authenticated pattern, along with camera identification and the location that the camera covered. The video released in 2004 contained no such data.79

Also, although this so-called Dulles video contained a man who was identified by the 9/11 Commission as Hani Hanjour,80 this man had a muscular build and a full head of hair, with no receding hairline, whereas Hanjour was thin and had a receding hairline (as shown by a photo taken six days before 9/11).81

Besides the fact the videos purportedly showing hijackers for Flights 11 and 77 are clearly inauthentic, there are no videos even purportedly showing the hijackers for the other two flights—even though, if the 19 “hijackers” had really checked into the Boston and Dulles airports, authentic security videos would exist to prove this claim.


A Hijacker’s Voice on a Radio Transmission

Still more evidence for the existence of hijackers on the planes, the public was told, was provided by a message transmitted by a man on American 11. The man said:

We have some planes. Just stay quiet, and you’ll be okay. We are returning to the airport… . Nobody move. Everything will be okay. If you try to make any moves, you’ll endanger yourself and the air-plane. Just stay quiet… . Nobody move please. We are going back to the airport. Don’t try to make any stupid moves.82

The 9/11 Commission Report, employing the first line of this message (“We have some planes”) as the title of its first chapter, stated that this transmission came from “American 11.”

However, there was no evidence that this transmission came from American Flight 11 (or any of the other 9/11 planes). According to the FAA’s “Summary of Air Traffic Hijack Events,” published September 17, 2001, these messages came “from an unknown origin.”83 Bill Peacock, the FAA’s air traffic director, said: “We didn’t know where the transmission came from.”84 This transmission, in other words, provided no evidence that hijackers had taken control of American Flight 11.

Passports at the Crash Sites

The public’s belief that there were al-Qaeda terrorists on the planes was bolstered by the claim that some of their passports had been found at crash sites. But were these reports believable? For example, the FBI claimed that, while searching the streets after the destruction of the World Trade Center, they discovered the passport of Satam al-Suqami, one of the (alleged) hijackers on American Airlines Flight 11, which had (reportedly) crashed into the North Tower.85 For this to be true, the passport would have had to survive not only the fire ignited by the plane’s jet fuel, but also the disintegration of the North Tower, which evidently pulverized much of the building’s contents into fine particles of dust. But this claim was too absurd to pass the giggle test: “[T]he idea that [this] passport had escaped from that inferno unsinged,” remarked a British commentator, “would [test] the credulity of the staunchest supporter of the FBI’s crackdown on terrorism.”86

By 2004, the claim had been modified to say that “a passer-by picked it up and gave it to a NYPD detective shortly before the World Trade Center towers collapsed.”87 So, rather than needing to survive the destruction of the North Tower, the passport merely needed to escape from al-Suqami’s pocket or luggage, then from the plane’s cabin, and then from the North Tower without being destroyed or even singed by the giant fireball that erupted when this building was struck. (In Flat Earth News, Nick Davies reported the opinion of some senior British sources that “the discovery of a terrorist’s passport in the rubble of the Twin Towers in September 2001 had been ‘a throwdown,’ i.e. it was placed there by somebody official.”88)

An al-Qaeda Headband at a Crash Site?

Some of the “phone calls from the planes” described the “hijackers” as wearing red headbands. For example, the Washington Post, discussing United Airlines Flight 93, said:

[P]assenger Jeremy Glick used a cell phone to tell his wife, Lyzbeth, … that the Boeing 757’s cockpit had been taken over by three Middle Eastern-looking men… . The terrorists, wearing red headbands, had ordered the pilots, flight attendants and passengers to the rear of the plane.89

According to the FBI, one of these headbands was found at the Flight 93 crash site along with Ziad Jarrah’s passport.90 But former CIA agent Milt Bearden, who helped train the Mujahideen fighters in Afghanistan, pointed out that it would have been very unlikely that members of al-Qaeda would have worn such headbands: Al-Qaeda is a Sunni movement, whereas the red headband is “a uniquely Shi’a Muslim adornment,” dating “back to the formation of the Shi’a sect.”91 Does it not seem likely that the headband was planted by people who failed to understand the difference between Shi’a and Sunni Muslims?

Passenger Manifests

The public has widely assumed, due to misleading claims, that the names of the alleged hijackers were on the passenger manifests for the four flights.92 However, the manifests for the four airliners did not contain the names of any of the alleged hijackers. They, in fact, contained no Arab names whatsoever.93

It might appear that this problem had been rectified in 2005, thanks to the claim by Los Angeles Times reporter Terry McDermott that he had received passenger manifests that contain the names of the (alleged) hijackers.94 However, the evidence presented by the FBI to the Moussaoui trial in the following year (2006) did not include these purported manifests.95 And there would have been good reason to consider them inauthentic. Although the FBI claimed that it had received flight manifests from the airlines by the morning of 9/11, the “manifests” that appeared in 2005 had names that were not known to the FBI until a day or more after 9/11.96 These 2005 “manifests,” therefore, could not have been the original manifests for the four 9/11 flights.

The American Airlines Flight 77 Autopsy Report

The absence of Arab names on the flight manifests led Dr. Thomas Olmsted—a psychiatrist and former Navy officer—to wonder if there were any Arab names on the autopsy list for American Airlines Flight 77, which reportedly struck the Pentagon. Having sent a FOIA request to the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology, which carried out the autopsy, he received, after a considerable wait, the autopsy list for AA 77. What he discovered was indicated by the title of his report: “Still No Arabs on Flight 77.”97 Claims to the contrary cannot survive scrutiny.98

Failure to Squawk the Hijack Code

The public has been led to believe that all the evidence about what happened on board the four airliners supported the claim that they were taken over by hijackers. This claim, however, was contradicted by something that did not happen. If pilots have any reason to believe that a hijacking may be in process, they are trained to enter the standard hijack code (7500) into their transponders to alert controllers on the ground. This is called “squawking” the hijack code. But controllers on 9/11 did not receive the code. Why not?

Two months after 9/11, a Boston Globe story said that “it appears that the hijackers’ entry was surprising enough that the pilots did not have a chance to broadcast a traditional distress call.”99 The very day after 9/11, however, CNN had pointed out: “The action takes seconds.”100 Squawking the hijack code would have taken much less time than hijackers would have required to break into the pilots’ cabins. A reporter at the Moussaoui trial, where the (purported) tapes from United 93 had been played, wrote:

In those tapes, the pilots shouted as hijackers broke into the cockpit. “Mayday! Mayday! Mayday!” a pilot screamed in the first tape. In the second tape, 30 seconds later, a pilot shouted: “Mayday! Get out of here! Get out of here!”101

According to these tapes, therefore, the pilots were still alive and coherent 30 seconds after realizing that hijackers were breaking into the cockpit.

So why did neither of the two pilots on United 93 squawk the hijack code while al-Qaeda hijackers were breaking into the cabin? And why did none of the pilots on any of the other 9/11 flights squawk the code? The fact that the hijack code was not squawked provides very strong evidence that the official story about the 9/11 planes, according to which the cabins were taken over by hijackers, is false.

The Reported Phone Calls from the Planes

It has been widely believed that we knew about the existence of hijackers on the airliners by means of numerous phone calls from passengers and crew members, in which they reported the hijackings. According to the 9/11 Commission: “Reports from two flight attendants [on American 11] tell us most of what we know about how the hijacking happened.”102 As we will see in Chapter 5, however, the reported phone calls from passengers and flight attendants on the 9/11 flights were evidently faked.

CONCLUSION

It appears, therefore, that 9/11 was the most elaborate example yet of a false-flag attack, which occurs when a country, wanting to attack another country, orchestrates attacks on its own people while planting evidence to implicate the other country. Hitler did this when he was ready to attack Poland, which started the European part of World War II; Japan did it when it was ready to attack Manchuria, which started the Asian part of that war. In 1962, the Pentagon’s Joint Chiefs of Staff proposed false-flag attacks killing American citizens to provide a pretext for invading Cuba.103 This proposal was not put into effect because it was vetoed by President Kennedy. But in 2001, the White House wanted to attack Afghanistan, Iraq, and several other predominantly Muslim countries—including Libya, which is the latest country to be attacked by America.104 And so, it appears, evidence was planted to implicate Muslims.


In any case, the official rationale for our presence in Afghanistan is a lie. The government has been there for other reasons. Critics have offered various suggestions as to the most important of those reasons.105 Whatever be the answer to that question, however, we have not been there to apprehend the terrorists responsible for the 9/11 attacks. Besides never being legally justified, the war in Afghanistan has not even been morally justified.

This war has been an abomination. In addition to the thousands of US and other NATO troops who have been killed or impaired for life, physically and/or mentally, the US-led invasion-and-occupation of Afghanistan has resulted in a huge number of Afghan casualties, with estimates of death running from several hundred thousand to several million.106 But whatever the true number, the fact is that the United States has produced a great amount of death and misery— sometimes even bombing funerals and wedding parties—in this poor country, which had already suffered terribly and that, even if the official story were true, had not attacked America. The fact that the official story is a lie makes our war crimes even worse.

Besides the fact that the war in Afghanistan has been a crime against peace—which American leaders at the end of World War II declared to be “the supreme crime”—it should also be understood to be a crime against democracy. This point will be introduced in Chapter 4 and developed more fully in Chapter 9.107






2. THE DESTRUCTION OF THE WORLD TRADE

CENTER: WHY HAVE OTHERWISE RATIONAL

JOURNALISTS ENDORSED MIRACLES?

It has now been ten years since the 9/11 attacks. From the beginning, a few people started arguing that the official account of the attacks—that they were carried out by foreign Muslims in other countries—was false, and that 9/11 was an inside job, carried out by people and agencies in our own government. An emerging movement to make this case came to be called “the 9/11 Truth Movement.”

According to several left-leaning critics of the 9/11 Truth Movement, some of its central claims, especially about the destruction of the World Trade Center, show its members to be scientifically challenged. In the opinion of some of these critics, moreover, claims made by members of this movement are sometimes unscientific in the strongest possible sense, implying an acceptance of magic and miracles.

After documenting this charge in the first part of this chapter, I show in the second part that the opposite is the case: On the one hand,these left-leaning critics have endorsed the official account of the destruction of the World Trade Center, even though it implies many miracles. On the other hand, the 9/11 Truth Movement, in developing an alternative hypothesis, has done so under the assumption that the laws of nature did not take a holiday on 9/11. In the third part of this chapter, I ask these left-leaning critics some questions raised by the fact that it is they, not members of the 9/11 Truth Movement, who have endorsed a conspiracy theory replete with miracle stories as well as other absurdities.

I THE CHARGE THAT 9/11 TRUTH THEORIES REST

ON UNSCIENTIFIC, EVEN MAGICAL, BELIEFS

Several left-leaning critics of the 9/11 Truth Movement charge its members with relying on claims that are contradicted by good science and, in some cases, reflect a belief in magic. By “magic,” they mean miracles, understood as violations of basic principles of the physical sciences.

For example, Alexander Cockburn, who has referred to members of the 9/11 Truth Movement as “9/11 conspiracy nuts,”1 quoted with approval a philosopher who, speaking of “the 9-11 conspiracy cult,” said that its “main engine … is … the death of any conception of evidence,” resulting in “the ascendancy of magic over common sense, let alone reason.”2 Also, Cockburn assured his readers: “The conspiracy theory that the World Trade Centre towers were demolished by explosive charges previously placed within them is probably impossible.”3 With regard to Building 7 of the World Trade Center, Cockburn claimed (in 2006) that the (2002) report by FEMA was “more than adequate.”4

Likewise, George Monbiot, referring to members of the 9/11 Truth Movement as “fantasists,” “conspiracy idiots,” and “morons,” charged that they “believe that [the Bush regime] is capable of magic.”5

Matt Taibbi, saying that the “9/11 conspiracy theory is so shamefully stupid” and referring to its members as “idiots,” wrote with derision about the “alleged scientific impossibilities” in the official account of 9/11; about the claim that “the towers couldn’t have fallen the way they did [without the aid of explosives]”; of the view (held by “9/11 Truthers”) that “it isn’t the plane crashes that topple the buildings, but bombs planted in the Towers that do the trick”; and of “the supposed anomalies of physics involved with the collapse of WTC-7.” He had been assured by “scientist friends,” he added, that “[a]ll of the 9/11 science claims” are “rank steaming bullshit.”6

Chris Hayes, writing in The Nation in 2006, did not stoop to the kind of name-calling employed by Cockburn, Monbiot, and Taibbi. He also knew, he admitted, of “eyewitness accounts of [people] who heard explosions in the World Trade Center.” And he was aware that “jet fuel burns at 1,500 degrees Fahrenheit [whereas] steel melts at 2,500.” He asserted, nevertheless, that “the evidence shows [a 9/11 conspiracy] to be virtually impossible,” so that the 9/11 Truth Movement’s conspiracy theory is “wrongheaded and a terrible waste of time.”7

Noam Chomsky has also declared that the available facts, when approached scientifically, refute the 9/11 Truth Movement. Speaking of evidence provided by this movement to show that 9/11 “was planned by the Bush Administration,” Chomsky declared: “If you look at the evidence, anybody who knows anything about the sciences would instantly discount that evidence.”8 In spite of his dismissive attitude, however, Chomsky in 2006 gave some helpful advice to people who believe they have physical evidence refuting the official account:

There are ways to assess that: submit it to specialists … who have the requisite background in civil-mechanical engineering, materials science, building construction, etc., for review and analysis… . Or, … submit it to a serious journal for peer review and publication. To my knowledge, there isn’t a single submission.9

In These Times writer Terry Allen, in a 2006 essay entitled “The 9/11 Faith Movement,” assured her readers that “the facts [do not] support the conspiracists’ key charge that World Trade Center buildings were destroyed by pre-positioned explosives.”10

In an essay posted at AlterNet a few months after 9/11, David Corn used a purely a priori argument to demonstrate—at least to his own satisfaction—that 9/11 could not have been an inside job: “U.S. officials would [not have been] … good [capable] enough, evil enough, or gutsy enough.” In 2009, after having been silent about 9/11 for the intervening years, he addressed the issue again. Referring to “9/11 conspiracy silliness,” “9/11 conspiracy poison,” and “9/11 fabulists,” Corn declared:

The 9/11 conspiracy … was always a load of bunk. You don’t have to be an expert on skyscraper engineering … to know that [this theory] make[s] no sense.11

Corn thereby implied that, whereas anyone can know that the 9/11 Truth Movement’s conspiracy theory is false, those people who are “expert[s] on skyscraper engineering” would have even more certain knowledge of this fact.

As to how people (such as himself) who are not experts on such matters could know this movement’s conspiracy theory to be “a load of bunk,” Corn again employed his three-point a priori argument, as re-worded in a 2009 Mother Jones essay, according to which the Bush administration was “not that evil,” “not that ballsy,” and “not that competent.”12 Corn even referred to his three-point argument as “a tutorial that should persuade anyone that the 9/11 theory makes no sense.” Although this “tutorial” does not, of course, convince members of the 9/11 Truth Movement, Corn explained this fact by saying: “I have learned from experience that people who believe this stuff are not open to persuasion.”13


In any case, although his argument against the inside-job theory was almost entirely a priori, he did make the above-mentioned suggestion that one’s a priori certitude would be reinforced by people, such as “expert[s] on skyscraper engineering,” who have relevant types of expertise to evaluate the empirical evidence.

A fuller statement of the general claim made by these authors— that the 9/11 Truth Movement is based on unscientific claims—was formulated by Matthew Rothschild, the editor of The Progressive. In an essay entitled “Enough of the 9/11 Conspiracy Theories Already,” Rothschild wrote:

Here’s what the conspiracists believe: 9/11 was an inside job… . [T]he Twin Towers fell not because of the impact of the airplanes and the ensuing fires but because [of] explosives. Building 7, another high-rise at the World Trade Center that fell on 9/11, also came down by planted explosives… . I’m amazed at how many people give credence to these theories… . [S]ome of the best engineers in the country have studied these questions and come up with perfectly logical, scientific explanations for what happened… . At bottom, the 9/11 conspiracy theories are profoundly irrational and unscientific. It is more than passing strange that progressives, who so revere science on such issues as tobacco, stem cells, evolution, and global warming, are so willing to abandon science and give in to fantasy on the subject of 9/11.14

However, in spite of the confidence with which these critics have made their charges, the truth is the complete opposite: It is the official account of the destruction of the World Trade Center, which has been endorsed by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), that is profoundly unscientific (partly because it ignores a massive amount of evidence pointing to the use of explosives15), and it is precisely for this reason that the 9/11 Truth Movement has come up with an alternative explanation—namely, that the WTC buildings were brought down in the procedure known as “controlled demolition.”


II MIRACLES IMPLIED BY NIST’s EXPLANATION OF

THE WTC’s DESTRUCTION

The main reason why NIST’s theory of the destruction of the World Trade Center is profoundly unscientific is that it cannot be accepted without endorsing miracles, in the sense of violations of fundamental principles of physics and chemistry. The fact that such violations are ruled out by science has been treated with humor in a cartoon involving a mathematical proof on a chalkboard. Most of the steps consist of mathematical equations. But the second step simply says: “Then a miracle happens.”16 This is funny, because it is universally understood in the scientific community that a scientific explanation of some phenomenon cannot include the affirmation of a miracle, even implicitly.

And yet this is what NIST does. NIST’s theory of the destruction of the World Trade Center, in fact, includes the affirmation of several miracles. I will demonstrate this point in terms of nine miracles implied by NIST’s accounts of the destruction of Building 7 of the World Trade Center (WTC 7) and the Twin Towers (WTC 1 and 2).

1. THE FIRE-INDUCED COLLAPSE OF WTC 7:

AN APPARENT MIRACLE

WTC 7 was a 47-story building that came down at 5:21 PM that day. In discussing the miracles implied by NIST’s account of this building’s collapse, I begin with a fact about WTC 7’s collapse that at least appears to entail a miracle: that it was (according to the official account) the first steel-framed high-rise building in the known universe to be brought down solely by fire. The Twin Towers were hit by airliners, so the official account could attribute their collapses to the airplane impacts as well as to the ensuing fires. But WTC 7 was not hit by a plane, so its collapse apparently had to be attributed to fire alone.

The unprecedented nature of a fire-induced collapse of a steel-framed high-rise building was expressed a couple of months after 9/11 by New York Times reporter James Glanz. Calling the collapse of WTC 7 “a mystery,” Glanz reported that “experts said no building like it, a modern, steel-reinforced high-rise, had ever collapsed because of an uncontrolled fire.” Glanz also quoted a structural engineer as saying: “[W]ithin the structural engineering community, [WTC 7] is considered to be much more important to understand [than the Twin Towers],” because engineers had no answer to the question, “why did 7 come down?”17


The mystery was not lessened in 2002 when FEMA issued the first official report on this building’s collapse. Saying that its “best hypothesis” was that flaming debris from the collapse of the North Tower had ignited diesel fuel stored in the building, resulting in large, steel-weakening fires that made the building collapse, FEMA admitted that this hypothesis had “only a low probability of occurrence”18 (although Alexander Cockburn years later, as we saw above, would declare this report to be “more than adequate”).

This cautionary statement by FEMA did not, however, prevent defenders of the official account from claiming that WTC 7’s collapse was not really very mysterious after all. In a 2006 book, Popular Mechanics told its readers what they could probably expect to find in the report on this building to be put out by NIST—which had taken over from FEMA the responsibility for issuing the official reports on the Twin Towers and WTC 7. Citing NIST’s “current working hypothesis,” Popular Mechanics said that WTC 7’s diesel fuel had probably fed the fires “for up to seven hours.”19

Also, using NIST’s then-current thinking in order to claim that “WTC 7 was far more compromised by falling debris than the FEMA report indicated,” Popular Mechanics argued that critics could not reject the official account on the grounds that it would make WTC 7 the first steel-framed high-rise to have failed “because of fire alone,” because, Popular Mechanics claimed, the causes of WTC 7’s collapse were analogous to the causes of the collapses of WTC 1 and WTC 2: “A combination of physical damage from falling debris [analogous to the damage caused in the Twin Towers by the airplane impacts] and prolonged exposure to the resulting [diesel-fuel-fed] fires [analogous to the jet-fuel-fed fires in the Twin Towers].”20

Popular Mechanics called this twofold explanation a “conclusion” that had been reached by “hundreds of experts from academia and private industry, as well as the government.” This claim evidently impressed many people, including Chris Hayes and Matthew Rothschild, both of whom said that Popular Mechanics had disproved the claims of the 9/11 Truth Movement. Rothschild, repeating Popular Mechanics’ twofold explanation, wrote:

Building 7 … is a favorite of the conspiracy theorists, since the planes did not strike this structure. But the building did sustain damage from the debris of the Twin Towers. “On about a third of the face to the center and to the bottom—approximately ten stories— about 25 percent of the depth of the building was scooped out,” Shyam Sunder, the lead investigator for the National Institute of Standards and Technology, told Popular Mechanics. What’s more, the fire in the building lasted for about eight hours, in part because there were fuel tanks in the basement and on some of the floors.21

Hayes, saying that “Popular Mechanics assembled a team of engineers, physicists, flight experts and the like to critically examine some of the Truth Movement’s most common claims,” reported that these experts “found them almost entirely without merit.” This claim by Popular Mechanics evidently settled the matter for Hayes.22

Also, although Terry Allen did not mention Popular Mechanics, her article clearly depended on it. Assuring her readers that she had found it “relatively easy” to undermine the “facts” employed by the 9/11 Truth Movement, she wrote:

Many conspiracists offer the collapse of WTC Building 7 as the strongest evidence for the kind of controlled demolition that would prove a plot. Although not hit by planes, it was damaged by debris, and suffered fires eventually fueled by up to 42,000 gallons of diesel fuel stored near ground level.23

Like Rothschild, therefore, she gave the same twofold explanation for WTC 7’s collapse that had been provided by Popular Mechanics.24

However, when NIST finally issued its WTC 7 report in 2008, it did not affirm either element in the twofold explanation that had been proffered by Popular Mechanics. With regard to the first element, NIST said: “[F]uel oil fires did not play a role in the collapse of WTC 7.”25 With regard to the second element, NIST said: “Other than initiating the fires in WTC 7, the damage from the debris from WTC 1 [the North Tower] had little effect on initiating the collapse of WTC 7.”26

This second point means that, contrary to what Popular Mechanics had claimed it would say, NIST actually asserted that WTC 7 was brought down by fire, at least primarily. In NIST’s words, the collapse of WTC 7 was “the first known instance of the total collapse of a [steel-framed] tall building primarily due to fires.”27

One ambiguity needs clearing up: Although in these just-quoted statements NIST seemed to indicate that the debris damage had “little effect” on initiating the collapse, so that this collapse was only primarily (rather than entirely) due to fire, NIST generally treated fire as the sole cause: Besides repeatedly speaking of a “fire-induced” collapse,28 a press release by NIST in August 2008 referred to the collapse of WTC 7 as “the first known instance of fire causing the total collapse of a tall building.” This press release, moreover, quoted lead investigator Shyam Sunder as saying: “Our study found that the fires in WTC 7 … caused an extraordinary event.”29 The brief version of NIST’s final report said: “Even without the structural damage, WTC 7 would have collapsed from fires having the same characteristics as those experienced on September 11, 2001.”30 The long version said: “WTC 7 sustained damage to its exterior as a result of falling debris from the collapse of WTC 1, but this damage was found to have no effect on the collapse initiating event.”31
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